IN THE  
SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 68,399

FILED

CLERK OF THE COURT

By: Chief Deputy Clerk

C  
pl

BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE  
INTERNAL IMPROVEMENT TRUST  
FUND OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

PETITIONER,

v.

SAND KEY ASSOCIATES, LIMITED,

RESPONDENT.

ON APPEAL FROM THE  
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

STEVEN A. BEEN, ESQUIRE  
ASSISTANT GENERAL COUNSEL  
DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES  
SUITE 1003, DOUGLAS BUILDING  
3900 COMMONWEALTH BOULEVARD  
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32303  
TELEPHONE: (904) 488-9223

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This brief supports the State's\* second petition for review based on a certified question from a decision of the Second District Court of Appeal arising out of the same lawsuit. The first appeal, Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund v. Sand Key Associates, Limited, Case No. 66,372, was briefed and argued and is pending before this Court. Both decisions of the Second District ruled on the same ownership question. The first decision was based on the district court's application of state law. The second decision was based on the district court's application of federal law.

Sand Key commenced this proceeding on June 3, 1983 with a quiet title action in the Sixth Judicial Circuit (Record 1). Sand Key's complaint sought a declaration that it owns approximately 5.08 acres of accreted land that gradually attached to its beach front property as the mean high water line moved seaward. (Record 1-2). The State's answer defended on the basis of section 161.051, Florida Statutes, which provides that accretion caused by Chapter 161 beach erosion control projects belongs to the State (Record 8-9). On January 4, 1984, Sand Key moved to add a Count II to its complaint, alleging that Sand Key could trace its title to an 1883 United States Patent, and demanding

---

\*Petitioner Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund of the State of Florida is referred to as "the State." Respondent Sand Key Associates, Limited is referred to as "Sand Key."

the same relief as requested in the original complaint, but based on federal law (Record 12). On January 13, 1984, Sand Key moved for summary judgment as to Count I (Record 18). The circuit court on April 4, 1984 denied Sand Key's motion for summary judgment as to Count I (Record 152). Sand Key appealed to the Second District on May 2, 1984 (Record 155). The district court rendered its decision on Sand Key's Count I appeal on October 26, 1984. Sand Key Associates, Ltd v. Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund, 458 So.2d 369 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). That decision was based on common law and on the district court's interpretation of section 161.051, Florida Statutes. The Second District certified to be of great public importance a question concerning the construction of section 161.051, Florida Statutes. On November 21, 1984, the State invoked the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court to consider the certified question. That appeal is pending in this Court (Case No. 66,372).

On October 9, 1984, while its appeal from the circuit court's ruling on Count I was pending before the Second District in Case No. 84-960, Sand Key moved in the circuit court for summary judgment on Count II (Record 156). On December 11, 1984, while the State's state law appeal was pending in this Court, the circuit court issued its Final Summary Judgment, which ruled for Sand Key based on the 1883 federal patent and on federal common law (Record 253-254). The State appealed to the Second District from the Final Summary Judgment on January 4, 1985. The Second

District issued a per curiam affirmance on October 4, 1985, with citations, but no opinion (Appendix 1). On January 29, 1986, treating the State's motion for rehearing en banc as a motion for rehearing, the district court withdrew its October 4, 1985 decision and substituted a new opinion. (Appendix 2-6). The January 29, 1986 opinion certified the following question as one of great public importance:

Does the answer to the question posed in Sand Key Associates, Ltd. v. Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund, 458 So.2d 369 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), depend upon whether the title of any upland owner is traceable to a federal patent?

Based on the certified question, the State now seeks review of the district court's January 29, 1986 decision.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On December 29, 1972, Sand Key acquired deed to a parcel of land in Pinellas County bordering on the mean high water line of the Gulf of Mexico. (Record 5-6, 253). Sand Key traces its title to a United States Patent issued June 20, 1883. (Record 28). For several years prior to 1983, the beach on Sand Key's property gradually expanded seaward, and Sand Key did not take any action to cause such accretion (Record 23-27, 253). The State contends that the expansion of the beach resulted from a shore protection measure authorized pursuant to Chapter 161, Florida Statutes (Record 9, 112). Sand Key denies this (Record 11,114). There has as yet been no trial to resolve this disputed fact issue.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court's conclusion that:

Where title to oceanfront property is derived from a federal patent, federal law determines the extent of that title including title to all future accretions and all such accretions belong to the littoral landowner

(Appendix 13), is based on Hughes v. Washington, 389 U.S. 290 (1967), and California ex rel. State Lands Commission v. United States, 457 U.S. 273 (1982). Neither decision is binding or persuasive authority for the application of federal law in this case. Hughes is no longer good law because its rationale was renounced in Oregon v. Corvallis Sand and Gravel Co., 429 U.S. 363 (1977). California ex rel. State Lands Commission is not authority for the choice of law in a case of title derived from a federal patent because its statements on that subject were dicta. Corvallis is the best reasoned and most persuasive authority on the choice of law for title questions involving real property once obtained from the federal government. State law, according to Corvallis, must be applied to determine real property boundary questions, and the fact that Sand Key's coastal property can be traced to an 1883 federal patent does not authorize the use of federal law.



ARGUMENT

STATE LAW, NOT FEDERAL LAW, DETERMINES WHETHER  
COASTAL ACCRETION BELONGS TO AN UPLAND OWNER  
EVEN THOUGH TITLE IS DERIVED FROM A FEDERAL  
PATENT

Two United States Supreme Court cases, Hughes v. Washington, 389 U.S. 290 (1967) and California ex rel. State Lands Commission v. United States, 457 U.S. 273 (1982), appear to support the district court's holding that federal law determines Sand Key's rights here. These cases are not determinative, however, because the authority of Hughes was ended by Oregon v. Corvallis Land and Gravel Co., 429 U.S. 363 (1977); because the pertinent parts of California are dicta, not binding on this Court; and because Corvallis remains persuasive authority for the proposition that state law should govern in real property disputes, even when title to the real property originated with the federal government.

The source of the controversy over whether federal or state law should govern ownership of accretion to land once derived from the federal government is a case that did not involve accretion, Borax Consolidate, Ltd. v. Los Angeles, 296 U.S. 10 (1935). In Borax, the Court ruled that the boundary of land granted by a federal patent is a federal question because:

It is a question which concerns the validity and effect of an act done by the United States; it involves the ascertainment of the essential basis of a right asserted under federal law.

296 U.S. 22.

The United States Supreme Court first considered whether federal or state law controlled the ownership of accretion to land conveyed by the United States thirty-two years after Borax, in Hughes v. Washington. In Hughes, the successor to a federal grant of ocean-front property sued to establish her right to future accretion despite a Washington Supreme Court ruling that the Washington constitution vested accretion in the state. The U.S. Court held the choice of law to be dictated by Borax. The Court found "no significant difference" 389 U.S. 292, between the determination of the boundary of land conveyed by a federal patent in Borax and the right to future accretion attached to land conveyed by a federal grant in Hughes. Thus, Hughes held that federal law applies to decide who owns accretion to land once conveyed by the federal government. Hughes also considered but refused to select the state rule as the federal rule, relying on Borax and on the following analysis:

The rule deals with waters that lap both the lands of the State and the boundaries of the international sea. This relationship, at this particular point of the marginal sea, is too close to the vital interest of the Nation in

its own boundaries to allow it to be governed by any law but the "supreme Law of the Land."

389 U.S. 293.

The Hughes case happened to deal with ocean-front property. In Bonelli Cattle Company v. Arizona, 414 U.S. 313 (1973), the U.S. Court addressed the choice of law question again, this time in the context of accretion to land abutting the Colorado River. The Bonelli Cattle Company owned the upland as successor to a federal patent. Arizona had obtained the land submerged under the river from the federal government by virtue of the equal footing doctrine upon Arizona's admission as a state. The dispute was over land formerly belonging to Bonelli Cattle that had been submerged by gradual migration of the river, and then uncovered by a rechannelling project. The Arizona Supreme Court had applied state law and ruled the land Arizona's. As in Hughes, the Court in Bonelli Cattle reversed the state court and, following Borax, determined that federal common law governed ownership of newly emerged land because the land had once been derived from the federal government.

Under Hughes and Bonelli Cattle, the U.S. Supreme Court carved out a significant part of state real property law and replaced that law with common law created by the federal courts. The displacement of state law in Hughes and Bonelli was not mandated by Congress. It did not facilitate any Congressional

program. It was based on the 1935 precedent of Borax, though Borax preceded the drastic reduction of the role of federal common law in Erie Railroad v. Tompkins, 304 U.S. 64 (1938), and though Borax can easily be read to govern merely the geographic extent of a federal grant, not the perpetual legal rights of the federal grantee.

In Oregon v. Corvallis Sand and Gravel Co., 429 U.S. 363 (1977), the Court set a new course. Corvallis expressly overruled Bonelli Cattle and reestablished the primary role of the state in the area of real property. Neither Borax nor the equal footing doctrine, the Corvallis Court ruled, was justification for application of federal law to determine boundary questions for land that had long been conveyed out of federal ownership. As the Court declared:

Under our federal system, property ownership is not governed by a general federal law, but rather by the laws of the several States. . . . This is particularly true with respect to real property, for even when federal common law was in its heyday under the teachings of Swift v. Tyson, an exception was carved out for the local law of real property.

429 U.S. 378-379 (citations omitted). Quoting Wilcox v. Jackson, 13 Pet. 498 (1839), the Court said:

We hold the true principle to be this, that whenever the question in any Court, state or federal, is, whether a title to land which had once been the property of the United States

has passed, that question must be resolved by the laws of the United States; but that when ever, according to those laws, the title shall have passed, then that property, like all other property in the state, is subject to state legislation; so far as that legislation is consistent with the admission that the title passed and vested according to the laws of the United States.

429 U.S. 378 quoting 13 Pet. 517 (emphasis by the Corvallis Court).

The return to state law of accretion questions on river-front property logically should apply to ocean-front property as well. The Corvallis Court declined to expressly rule on the status of Hughes however, and suggested in a footnote that application of federal common law might be justified for ocean-front property by the language in Hughes, quoted above, concerning waters that lap the international sea. This contention was addressed by Justice Marshall, dissenting in Corvallis, at 429 U.S. 383, ftn. 1. Justice Marshall correctly points out that land above the mean high tide does not touch the international sea. It is submerged land below the mean high tide that extends to international water, and this land is clearly owned by the state. Accretion, such as that involved in Hughes, California ex rel. State Lands Commission v. United States, and the instant case, all lies above mean high tide. As Justice Marshall stated, "There are no international relations implications in the ownership of land above the line of mean high tide" 429 U.S. 383, ftn.1. Even if international water did come up to touch the

shore, there is no apparent federal interest in determining whether the state or a private person tracing title to a remote federal grant is the current owner of the land that touches water.

Justice Marshall, dissenting in Corvallis, argued that Corvallis had in effect overruled Hughes. The majority in Wilson v. Omaha Indian Tribe, 442 U.S. 653 (1979) reflected the understanding that Corvallis had restored state law to its primary role by describing Corvallis as holding that:

absent an overriding federal interest, the laws of the several States determine the ownership of the banks and shores of waterways.

442 U.S. 669. After Corvallis and Omaha Indian Tribe, Hughes has been so completely undermined that there can no longer be said to be a binding precedent for application of federal law to coastal accretion even when the upland is derived from a federal grant.

The U.S. Court's most recent discussion of the choice of law in accretion cases, California ex rel. State Lands Commission v. United States, did indicate a renewed interest in injecting federal common law into local real property disputes. But the actual holding of California does not have this effect, because the case involved accretion to land currently owned by the United States government. In that situation, there is a direct federal interest that may properly override local law. In

Wilson v. Omaha Indian Tribe, the Court had held federal law to apply in such circumstances, and California could have been decided based on Wilson alone. The Court went beyond the facts of the case, however, to consider the choice of law for ocean-front accretion where the upland owner derives title from the federal government. The Court rejected the notion that Hughes had been undermined by Corvallis. The "international sea" language of Corvallis, which had been criticized by Justice Marshall, was used to distinguish ocean-front property. The Court stated in California that ownership of accretion to ocean-front property derived from the federal government would be decided by federal law.

This Court should not feel bound by the parts of the California opinion that go beyond the ruling of the case. In the typical accretion situation, when the United States is not a party, there is no real federal interest. The part of the California opinion that deals with Hughes and land derived from a federal grant is simply dicta, as Justice Rehnquist's cogent concurrence, joined by Justice Stevens and Justice O'Connor, observed.

There is no good reason for grantees of federal river-front land to be subject to state law while grantees of federal ocean-front land and their successors forever are subject to federal common law. Neither does it make sense for ocean-front neighbors to have their ocean boundaries determined by different

bodies of law, due simply to the happenstance that one can trace title back to a hundred year old federal grant, while the other cannot.

#### CONCLUSION


Whether or not federal common law supercedes the state law of coastal accretion when an upland owner can trace title to a federal patent is ultimately a question for the United States Supreme Court. It seems likely that however this Court decides the choice of law question, either Sand Key or the State will seek certiorari in the U. S. Court, assuming this Court construes section 161.051, Florida Statutes as the State has requested in Case No. 66,372. If this Court were to decide that federal common law governs, then it would nonetheless be important for the Court to rule on the state law question of Case No. 66,372. Without an authoritative interpretation of section 161.051, it would be more difficult to persuade the U. S. Court to grant review. A final decision from this Court based solely on federal law would leave both state and federal law unsettled. In the interest of getting a definitive resolution for the parties to this case, as well as for the clarification of the law of accretion, this Court should decide both the state and the federal issues raised by these two appeals.

This Court should decide the choice of law question in favor of state law. If any area of law, by tradition and by practicality, ought to be governed by state law, it is the law




of real property boundaries. The inconsistent decisions of the United States Supreme Court leave the choice to this Court, and the common sense approach of Oregon v. Corvallis Sand and Gravel, Co., suggests that the choice should be for state law.