IN THE  
SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 68,399

FILED  
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT  
TAMPA, FLORIDA

---

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE  
INTERNAL IMPROVEMENT TRUST FUND  
OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

SAND KEY ASSOCIATES, LIMITED,

Respondent.

---

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF THE  
DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT  
OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA  
SECOND DISTRICT

---

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
SAND KEY ASSOCIATES, LIMITED

---

RICHARD J. SALEM, ESQUIRE  
RICHARD J. SALEM, P.A.  
111 Parker Street, Suite 301  
Post Office Box 3399  
Tampa, Florida 33601  
(813) 254-9000  
Counsel for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION,  
UPHOLD THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT,  
AND DENY THE PETITION IN CASE NO. 66,372 AS  
MOOT.
  
- II. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT  
WHERE TITLE TO OCEANFRONT LAND IS DERIVED FROM  
A FEDERAL PATENT, TITLE TO ACCRETIONS IS TO BE  
DETERMINED BY FEDERAL LAW.
  
- III. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT  
UNDER FEDERAL LAW, THE ACCRETIONS TO SAND KEY'S  
OCEANFRONT PROPERTY BELONG TO SAND KEY.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

The Respondent, SAND KEY ASSOCIATES, LIMITED ("SAND KEY"), adopts the Statement of the Case and the Statement of the Facts of the Petitioner, the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund of the State of Florida (the "STATE"), with the following modifications.

SAND KEY proceeded in the trial court with a two count quiet title action. Count I sought relief on the basis of state law. Count II sought that same relief under federal law. After the trial court granted an injunction under Count I, SAND KEY appealed that order to the District Court, which reversed and certified a question to this Court. The State's Petition for review is pending before this Court, which ordered briefing and argument, but has not accepted jurisdiction. Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund v. Sand Key Associates, Limited, Case No. 66,372, hereinafter referred to as "Sand Key I".

The instant case involves the District Court's affirmance of the Final Judgment in favor of SAND KEY, based solely on the application of federal law. The District Court certified a question of great public importance to this Court in the case at bar, hereinafter referred to as "Sand Key II".

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court should determine the federal law issue raised in the instant case in order to eliminate the constitutional issue before the Court in Sand Key I. The application of federal law to SAND KEY'S oceanfront property will render the constitutional issue moot. This Court should not decide the constitutional question because it is not necessary for the ultimate resolution of the dispute between the parties.

The District Court correctly followed the United States Supreme Court decisions that have determined the exact issues raised in the instant case. Hughes v. Washington, 389 U.S. 290 (1967), and California ex rel. State Lands Comm. v. United States, 457 U.S. 273 (1982), unequivocally hold that federal law governs title to accretion occurring on oceanfront land owned by, or patented by, the federal government. The inapposite decision exclusively relied on by the STATE, Oregon ex rel. State Land Board v. Corvallis Sand and Gravel Co., 429 U.S. 363 (1977), dealt solely with inland property and has no application to the case at bar.

Under the undisputed federal common law, accretion, whatever its cause, vests in the owner of the upland. Thus, SAND KEY is entitled to ownership of those accretions under federal common law.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION, UPHOLD  
THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT, AND DENY THE  
PETITION IN SAND KEY I AS MOOT.

The District Court correctly recognized the importance of its decision below by certifying a question of great public importance to this Court. This presents an opportunity to avoid the constitutional question presented in the pending Petition for Review in Sand Key I. The Court should follow the well established rule that it will not decide a constitutional question unless it is absolutely necessary for the ultimate resolution of the case. See, e.g., Singletary v. State, 322 So.2d 551 (Fla. 1975); In re Estate of Sale, 227 So.2d 199 (Fla. 1969).

The District Court, in its Sand Key I decision (Petition for Review pending), was compelled to review a state statute without the benefit of the trial court's decision in Count II of this cause. In Sand Key II, the District Court properly followed the controlling decisions of the United States Supreme Court in affirming the trial court's ruling. See Point II, infra. The principle established in these cases and followed by the District Court in Sand Key II, to wit: federal law controls the ownership of accretions to federally patented oceanfront property, eliminates the need for state statute review.

If this Court upholds the District Court's decision in the case at bar, then its work will be completed. The petition for review of the state law issue would then be moot, because the determination that federal law applies to determine SAND KEY'S

property rights will be a final determination of this case on the merits.



II. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT TITLE TO ACCRETIONS ON SAND KEY'S PROPERTY, DERIVED FROM A FEDERAL PATENT, IS A QUESTION OF FEDERAL LAW.

SAND KEY derives its title to oceanfront property from a federal patent issued in 1883. Over the past several years, there has been a gradual and imperceptible build-up of land to the shore of this oceanfront property. It is undisputed that this build-up of land is accretion. 1

In affirming the trial court's judgment, the District Court correctly followed the controlling decisions of the United States Supreme Court, which unequivocally require the application of federal law to SAND KEY'S federally patented property. The Court has consistently held that title disputes over oceanfront land patented by the United States are governed by federal law. California ex rel. State Lands Comm. v. United States, 457 U.S. 273 (1982); Hughes v. Washington, 389 U.S. 290 (1967); Borax Consolidated, Ltd. v. City of Los Angeles, 296 U.S. 10 (1935).

- 
1. Accretion is the gradual and imperceptible addition of soil to the shore of waterfront property. The test as to what is gradual and imperceptible is, that though witnesses may see from time to time that progress has been made, they could not perceive it while the process was going on. St. Clair County v. Lovington, 90 U.S. (23 Wall.) 46, 68, 23 L.Ed. 59 (1874). Title to accreted lands by the great weight of authority vests in the riparian owners of abutting lands. Brickell v. Trammell, 77 Fla. 544, 82 So. 221 (1919); Mexico Beach Corp. v. St. Joe Paper Co., 97 So.2d 708, 710 (1st D.C.A. Fla. 1957); cert.denied 101 So.2d 817 (1958).

Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund v. Medeira Beach Nominee, Inc., 209 So.2d 209, 211 (Fla. 2d DCA 1973).

In Borax Consolidated, Ltd. v. City of Los Angeles, 296 U.S.10 (1935), the Court held that the boundaries and extent of oceanfront property granted by a federal patent are determined by federal law. Writing for a unanimous Court, Chief Justice Hughes reasoned:

The question as to the extent of this federal grant, that is, as to the limit of the land conveyed ... is necessarily a federal question. It is a question which concerns the validity and effect of an act done by the United States; it involves the ascertainment of the essential basis of a right asserted under federal law.

Id. at 22 (citations omitted). The Borax Court's directive to apply federal law to federally patented oceanfront property was reaffirmed several years later in Hughes v. Washington, 389 U.S. 290 (1967).

In Hughes, the successor in title to a federal patentee claimed title to accretion which was forming on her land bordering the Pacific Ocean. The State of Washington applied a provision of its constitution to divest her of title to the accretion. The Supreme Court reversed, unanimously holding that:

the extent of ownership under the federal grant is governed by federal law. This is as true whether doubt as to any boundary is based on a broad question as to the general definition of the shoreline or on a particularized problem relating to the ownership of accretion.

389 U.S. at 292.

The Court explained the compelling federal interest in applying the federal rule of law to determine the ownership of

oceanfront property derived from a federal patent, stating:

The rule deals with waters that lap both the lands of the State and the boundaries of the international sea. This relationship, at this particular point of the marginal sea, is too close to the vital interest of the Nation in its own boundaries to allow it to be governed by any law but the "supreme Law of the Land".

389 U.S. at 293.

Hughes concerned a federal patent made prior to statehood, while Borax dealt with a patent made after statehood, as in the instant case. In both cases, the Court determined that whenever title to oceanfront property is derived from a federal patent, federal law governs the extent of that patent, including the rights to future accretion. SAND KEY'S ownership of the accretion on its property is manifestly a question to be determined by federal law.

As recently as 1982, the Supreme Court expressly reaffirmed Hughes in California ex rel. State Lands Comm. v. United States, 457 U.S. 273 (1982). In California, a jetty caused accretion to occur on oceanfront property owned by the United States, which claimed title under federal law. California claimed title to the accretion under state law. The Court noted that:

Except for the fact that in the present case, the upland to which the accretions attached has always been owned by the United States, this case and Hughes are similarly situated. Unless Hughes is to be overruled, judgment must be entered for the United States.

457 U.S. at 280-81.

The Court rejected California's contention that Oregon ex rel. State Land Board v. Corvallis Sand and Gravel Co., 429 U.S. 363 (1977), implicitly overruled the Hughes decision. The STATE now advances that same failed argument in the case at bar. In California, the Court harmonized Hughes and Corvallis, explaining:

Corvallis itself recognized that federal law would continue to apply if "there were present some other principle of federal law requiring state law to be displaced." 429 U.S. at 371 ... The Corvallis opinion ... recognized ... that the Hughes Court considered oceanfront property "sufficiently different ... so as to justify a 'federal common law' rule of riparian proprietorship." 429 U.S. at 377 n.6. The Corvallis decision did not purport to disturb Hughes.

457 U.S. at 281-82.

Reaffirming Hughes, the Court unequivocally ruled that one unified choice-of-law rule applied, holding:

that a dispute over accretions to oceanfront land where title rests with or was derived from the Federal Government is to be determined by federal law.

457 U.S. at 283. The State's contention that the foregoing rule is dicta is an unsupportable attempt to divide the one unified choice-of-law rule. The California decision clearly demonstrates that the Court makes no distinction between federally patented oceanfront lands and lands still owned by the federal government.

Repeatedly, the Court referred to this rule.2

In summary, it is clear that the decision rendered in Corvallis dealt solely with inland property and has no application to the case at bar. Conversely, it is the Hughes rule, which dealt with oceanfront land, that supplies the rule of decision in the instant case. Recognizing this critical distinction, the Supreme Court in California harmonized these decisions on the basis of compelling federal interest in the nation's boundaries. The California Court conclusively held that federal law determines title to accretion on oceanfront land owned or patented by the United States. The determinate rulings of the United States Supreme Court unequivocally require that title to the accretion on SAND KEY'S federally patented oceanfront property be governed by application of federal law.

---

2. For example, in closing its opinions, the California court summarized:

We reaffirm today that federal law determines the boundary of oceanfront lands owned or patented by the United States.

457 U.S. at 288 (emphasis added).

III. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT UNDER FEDERAL LAW, THE ACCRETIONS TO SAND KEY'S PROPERTY BELONG TO SAND KEY.

The District Court's ruling that federal common law vests title to accretion on federally patented oceanfront property in the upland owner is beyond dispute. The STATE appears to concede this issue by its silence.

In California ex rel. State Land Comm. v. United States, supra, where construction of a jetty had resulted in accretions to oceanfront land, the Supreme Court explained the federal common law rule governing the rival claims to its ownership:

[T]his is not a case in which federal common law must be created. For over 100 years it has been settled under federal law that the right to future accretions is an inherent and essential attribute of the littoral or riparian owner, New Orleans v. United States, 10 Peters 662, 717 (1836); County of St. Clair v. Lovington, 23 Wall. 46, 68 (1874). "Almost all jurists and legislators—both ancient and modern, have agreed that, the owner of the land thus bounded is entitled to these additions." Jefferis v. East Omaha Land Co., 134 U.S. 178, 189 (1890), quoting Banks v. Ogden, 2 Wall. 57, 67 (1863).

457 U.S. 273, 284 (emphasis in original).

The federal common law rule of accretion is based on the ancient precept that the right to future accretions is an inherent and essential attribute of the property. Federal law makes no distinction between naturally occurring accretion and artificially occurring accretion. Over 100 years ago, the Supreme Court noted:

In light of the authorities, alluvion may be defined as an addition to riparian land, gradually and imperceptibly made by the water to which the land is contiguous. It is different from reliction, and is the opposite of avulsion . . . . Whether it is the effect of natural or artificial causes makes no difference. The result as to ownership in either case is the same. The riparian right to future alluvion is a vested right. It is an inherent and essential attribute of the original property. . . . If there be a gradual loss, he must bear it; if a gradual gain, it is his.

County of St. Clair v. Lovington, 90 U.S. 46, 68-69 (1874)

(emphasis added).

Accordingly, the District Court properly followed more than a century of Supreme Court precedent and quieted title to the accretions in SAND KEY. As Justice Black explained in Hughes,

supra:

[T]he soundness of the principle is scarcely open to question. Any other rule would leave riparian owners continually in danger of losing the access to water which is often the most valuable feature of the property, and continually vulnerable to harassing litigation challenging the location of of the original water lines.

389 U.S. at 293-94. Therefore, the District Court's holding that SAND KEY owns all accretions occurring on its oceanfront property, derived from a federal patent, must be affirmed.

## CONCLUSION

This Court should take the opportunity presented to render moot the constitutional question presented in Sand Key I by affirmatively answering the certified questions submitted in Sand Key II. In so doing, the judgment of the trial court and the decision of the District Court, vesting title in accretions to SAND KEY should be upheld.

A firm foundation for such a ruling lies both within the dictates of this Court and our nation's Supreme Court. It is settled that when the constitutionality of a state statute can remain unquestioned, through the application of alternative laws, then it should remain undisturbed. Here, the law of our land is clear: "federal law determines the boundary of oceanfront lands owned or patented by the United States". California, 457 U.S. at 288. The District Court correctly adhered to these principles in reaching its decisions in Sand Key I and Sand Key II.

As contrasted by the United States Supreme Court, the rules relating to inland riparian property and oceanfront lands differ significantly. The federal common law, which applies to SAND KEY'S gulf front property, has been established for over a century. It mandates that accretions, whether artificial or natural, be vested in the owner of the upland property. Consequently, it is undisputable that SAND KEY is entitled to the accretions on its oceanfront property.

Therefore, SAND KEY requests that this Court:

1. Grant the Petition for Review in the case at bar;
2. Uphold the District Court's decision in Sand Key II;
3. Answer the certified question in the affirmative;
4. Deny the Petition for Review in Sand Key I as moot.



RICHARD J. SALEM, ESQUIRE  
RICHARD J. SALEM, P.A.  
111 Parker Street, Suite 301  
Post Office Box 3399  
Tampa, Florida 33601  
(813) 254-9000  
Counsel for Respondent